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EDWARD I AND THE CHURCHES OF DEVON, 1297

Jonathan Good and Nicholas Orme

In the spring of 1297 King Edward [ spent six weeks in Devon, chieflly at Dlympton,
arranging help for his lands in south-weslern Franee which were being attacked by the
French king. Royal visits ta Devon were unusual in this period: the ecounty was off the
king's usual rautes and varely called for his personal atlention, Edward had been o
Exeter once befove, Lo deal with a serious erime in 1285, bat he appears to have been the
sole rogning monareh who wade a journey to the South Woest during the Uhirleenth and
fourtcenth centuries, though Richard [T did so as a boy.! Recently one of us, Jonathan
Good, while completing a study of the eult of 3t George in medieval England, encoun-
tered o "Wardrube Bosl’ in the Hritish Library, giving detailed accounts of the king's per-
gonal expenditure during the year in question, including his visit Lo Deven® One of the
seetions ol the book is concerned with the king's alms: the money that he gave for reli-
gious and charitable purposes, day by day. This information is valuable, [£ enables us to
reconstruct hig itinerary, to get a sense ol the pact that veligion played in his everyday
fife, und to observe how he interacted with the religious houses and parish churches of
Devan during lus visil, It also throws light on chureh dedications and saint enlts in the
county at a time when inlbrmation about these mattors s not casy o come by

tdward entered Devon on about 3 April and travelled via Ortery St Mary to Exeter
fle atayed there for a night or two, belore proceeding to Chudleigh where he probably
loelgrerd in the manor house of the bishop of Fxeter, and thenee to Usington, Buckfast
Abbey, Brmington, and finally Plympten Priory, which he adopted a5 bis baso, Plyinpton
waik clase to Plymouth, or Sutton as it was then often known, and Plymoath was woll
placed hye the sending of messages, men, and supplies to the king’s French lands around

Jovdeany and Bayonne, Bdward Lived in the priory [rom about 1T to 26 April, ot which
point ke made an expedition lasting about a week vin Brixton to Newton Ferrers and
buck again. He left Plympton on about 8 or 9 May and retraced his steps through Excter,
Otlery, and Honiton. The king's houschold travelled with him, incloding a number off
priests and elerks who formed the staft of the king's chapel, or chapel royal, perlorming
daily servicos which the King altended if he so desired. Wherever the king was staying, a
suitable chapel or room was.annexed far Lhis purpose, and this constituted *his chapel’,
ol which we hear so oiten in the Wardrole Dook. Byery Sunday, and on sante woeeldays.
the king offered a sum of meney in the chapel — almoest abways 7s. O the missing days
he may have had privale worship in his rooms rather than altending the chapel roval,
Twice we hear thal he offered money to ‘the cross of Cneyth” and “twa thoros of the
erown of Christ’, The cross wasg Lhe Croes Nedd, which had been possessed by Llywelyn
ap Gruttudd, prince of Wales, and had been handed vver to JSdward by the Welsh in
1284 Tt was believed to contatn part of Cheist’s ceoss, and Edwanrd had spent a large
s ol juouey on embellishing its casing with jewels™ We are not told what happened
to any of the money after it had been offered.

The arrivat of the king and his houseliold in Devon must havi: exeited mock interest,
It was vxpreted that he wonrld visit local churches and prive his adms to them and to their
elorpy. He did net apparently stop atb every smalf chueeh on his route, but he visited the
majur ones and those al the recognised places for travellers to halt and cest. Se we tind
him, wr his stadl, making offerings to Ottery St Mary Church, Exeter Cathedeal, and St
Nicholis Priory in Breter, and he probably visited hoth the latter in state: being con-
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dueted to the high altar, viewing the relics. and oftering his usual 7s. Fle also went to
Bucklst Abbey, Plympton Priory, and the parish churehes of Brixton and Brmington.
Some pther chirches are mentioned in the Wiirdrobe Book as having veccived his offer-
ingzs, bul in somie ov all of these cases 1L appears that his houschiold servants made them
an his behal i These places induaded the parish churches of Asheambe and Sulton, the
parochinl chapels of St Moy and S Meaurice at Plympton, and the priory of 31 Michacels
Mount in Cornwall, The king atso gave alms Lo some of the loeal frinvies: celigrious hous-
es thal had oo endowments and depended on people’s voluntary contriboiions, These
plices included the Carmelite Iriary of Sutton, the Franciscan (viary of Bodmin, anl thoe
Franeisean and Dominiean [riaries of Bxeter. The reference to Bodmin in the accounts
is an amusing one. Bodmin was ollen spelt Bomine in medieval recards, but the writer of
the Wardrohe Book rendered it in Lalin as Abhonine, meaning finhuman

lidward was intercsted in saints as well as in churches. The Wardrobe Book veporls
him offering woney to Mary, Maarice, and Michacl, and, on theiv festival days to
Futropiug, John of Beverley, and Nicholas, Futropius was honowred at Saintes, & town in
the king’s deminions in soath-western France. Fdward also hal 2 pacticular devation to
S0 George, whose day on 23 April (el during his vigit Lo Devon. Tarlier fu his veign the
king had ordersl arm-hands decorated with St George's erogs for his soldiers Lo wear
while on coampaign in Wales, and he was to hoist St. George's banner over Cacelaverock
Castle (Scolland) after capturing it in 1300 He commissioned a ship callid (e St.
Creorge of Dartmouthy, and in 1285 offered gold Ggures of Saints George aval Edward the
Contissor, costing o full 1374, to the shvine af St Thonas of Canterbury.® His devotion ta
Genrgee was not professed by his sen Edward 10 but it was one of the many things that
Edware [ sought to re-egtablish aller the disaster of that King's ceign. The foundation
of the Ordec of the Garter under the saint's patronage in 148 was the most prominent
example of thiz, and an inportant reasen why Georpre later beeame the patron saiot of
England. [n 1297 on 8 Gearge's Day, the king sent one of his servants to offer money at
the altar of 5t George i the parish chaped of 8t Mauriee of Plymiplan (parhaps this was
the nearest local placve whore S0 George was honouredi, while another was sent to the
parish church of Asheombre near Bxeler, which was dedieated to 8t George

A teature of the Wardiobe Book waorth altention is the light that it throws on chureh
dedications in Devon. Somelimes the book mentions churches as being dedicated ta par-
ticular satnts, including Asheombe (Greorgel, Plympton (bwo chiurches: Mary and
Muuricel, and Sutton (Andreew), Ina fow other cases the statement is made that the
king cave an aftering to a particular saint in o pavcticadar chureh, This is oot necessartly
a reference La the patron saint, because the <aint concerned coudd have had a slatute or
altar within a chiureh dedicated to somebody else. At Honiton and (Ottery, however, we
are told that the images were those of St Michacl and 8t Mary respectively, the patron
saints of the churches concerned, so the imagos must have been the statues of those
saints thal Chureh faw required to be placed beside the high altar The atention that the
king made an offering nt the high atlar in the parish chorch at Brixton o honour of
Hlessed Mary' looks as though it faa i3 a reference to the chureh patron sqint, We have
ne other medieval veference to Brixtan’s dedication with which to check this one, hut
pending further discoveries, woe might provisionally say that the dedieation was (o Mary
— as it has been regarded as being since about 1389 %

Two of the pieces of information aboul dedications in the Wardrobe Book are particu-
larly impartant. The ttrst relates to ome of the parish chueehes of Plympton: the ome that
sorved that part of the parish known historically as Plympton Earl and Tater as
Plympton 8t Maacice. The patron saint of thix chuveh is usually said ta have been
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Thomas Becket in the middle ages, and there are at least three references to him in this
vespect between 1335 and about 1539.7 I has generally been thought that the church
dedication was changed to Mawrice in 1538, whon Henry VLI deelared it illegal to ven-
erate Becket. John Leland, the Tudor traveller and antiquary, who visited Devon in
ahout 1540, actually noted that Plympton Garl had formerly been called Plympton
Thomas alter ‘Thomas Becket, bul now the church there is of 8t Mauricius, knight snd
martyr"? There would have been an oddness, however, in choosing Maurice as an olter
native to Becket in the mid sixteenth centurs as he was o relatively listle-known martyr
of the third century with few English dedications. Moreover most churches of Becket
changed heir patron to Thomas the Apostle. The 1297 evidence shows that the church
had long been dediented te Maurice as well as to Becket. Indeed Maurice imay have been
the original patron saint when the church was established, in aboul the bweltth century,
and may have heen joined by Beelet at some poinl after the latter's martyrdom in 1170,

Finally there is the unequivocat reference to Asheombe as ‘the chureh ol S0 George',
This confirms the opinion expressed in 1996 by the other of us, Nicholas Orme, that
Nectan, although nowadays believed Lo be the patron saint of Asheombe, wag not Lhe
original one.” Asheombe’s dedivation was nol known when hislorians first began to gath-
er evidenee about church saints in the eighleenth contury, and it s first given as Nectan.
with a query, in the work of the Victorian scholar Georgre Oliver in 1846, The basis of
Oliver's statement was apparently a documentary reference, which he had found to
Neclan as the patvan of a church that he thought was probuably Ashton but possibly
Ashoombe.!" The document coneerned is lkely to have been the will of John Conin,
dated 1544, which was seen by a later wriler, Beatrix Cresswell, tn about 1912, who
belicved that the church coneerned was Asheombe. ' The chureh name was presumably
hard to read, and the will is not now available Lo be checked, In recent Limes the Neetan
dedication has beeome aseribed to Asheombe vather than Ashton, no doubt i part
because Ashton is thought to have n dilferent dedication whereas Asheomae's has been
unknow. But against that must be set the facts that Oliver seems to have preferred
Axhtan to Ashwombe, and that records survive ol g man or men named Robert Comyn or
Comyng in Ashion parish between 1544 and 1370, whereas no oue 50 named i8 moen-
tioned in Asheombe in the period around 1544.1%

The new evidenee shows elearly that Asheombe was dedicated to Gieorge by 1297, and
we can assume thit this was (he case up to the Reformalivn sinee the study of chareh
dedications makes it clear that they were not normally changed duving the middle ages.
It follows that the Cepun will is mare likely to have referied to Ashton — o church that is
nowadays regavded ax dedicated to John the Baptist. The evidence that John was patean
saint of Ashton is not altopether without support in eacly records, There was a ‘stare’ or
cult of him in the church in 1539; in 1742 the pavish feast was said to be held on the
Sunday alter the festival of his beheading (29 August); and he appears on the conteal
doors of the chancel sereen.’® Unfortunutely none of this evidence is conclusive.
Churches often bad several stores, associated with images at side altars, and the pres-
ence ol it store of John the Baptist in the building does not mean that the church was
dedicated to him. Fighteenth-century parish feast days tended to he held on major
saints” days during the summer, irrespective of the chureh’s owa patron saint’s day, and
we cannot be sure Lthat John's representation on the chancel sereen has any speeial sig-
nificance. The only doubt ubout assigning Nectan to Ashton arises Irom the lack of any
supporting context to do su. Nectan was the patron saint of Hartland Abbey in north
Dovon, where he was thought to be buried, and of Hartland parish church. The nearby
chureh of Welvombe, oviginally a chapeley of Havtland, was dedicated to him, as were
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two or theee chapels in Cornwall, but he is not known to have been Lthe patron saing of
any other parish chureh in Bngland. ! Indeed his colt wis chiclly confined o tlartland
in the era when most Devon parish churches were Dutll and assigned to saints, [L may
he saler al present to say of Ashton: ‘possibly Nevtan, possibly Jobn the Boptist”

The wardrobe book of 1297 has, at any rate, piven us twe new medieval dedications of
Devon churehes (three iF we can include Briston). Ashcombe brings to seventeen the
number of parishes in Devon known to have been dedicated to George, the others being
Bealord, Clyst 8t George, Cockington, Dean Prior, Dittisham, ${ George in Exeler,
Georgeham, George Nympton, [avlerd, Manaton, Modbury, Monkleigh, Morebath,
Seaton, Shillingtord St George, and Withevidge, A few more examples may come Lo light
in the future. George had been popular in Bngland sinee befove the Norman Conguest
and the Crusades, and Lie was the sixth mast frequent choiee in Devon when dedicating
churches. Thix popularily was o make iU caster for Bdward [ and espectally Bdwared TTT
to develop his eult wntil he beenue the nalion's patron saint.

A Translation of British Librvaey, Add. M5B 7965, f. 7(1)-7 (2}
[F 701l

3 APt [L207]. For the ofTering of thedkinyg to the hage of Blessed Mary in the chureh of
Otlery St Mary, 7=

[F 71|

4 April, For the offering of the king to the velies on the high altar in the cathedral church
ol Exeter, T+

5 April. For the offering of the king to the velics on the high altar in the church of the
priavy uf St Nicholas, Exeter, 7s.

G April. B the oflering ol Lhe king to the altar in his chaped at Chudleigh [Chedddeleye],
s,

7 April, viz. Palm Sunday. For the olferving of the king at the eross of Goeyth, s, and Lo
Lwir thorns of ihe erown of Christ, 3., total 8s.

9 April. For the offering of the king to the high altar in the churel of the abbey of
Buckfast, Ta, On the same day for the offering of the king at the altar in the church of
Ermingtan, 7=,

UL April For the offering of the king at the image of Blessed Mary in the church of the
prioey of Plymptan, 7s. On the same day for wax for the otfering of the king at the
altyoe in his chiapel, toe good tidings, 7=

14 April. For a shared oltering at the high mass colebrated betore the king in the church
at the priovy of Plympton. viz. ol the kst of Bastor, s Td. On the same day for the
offering of the king at the altar 1n his chapel theve, 7s.

15 April. For the offering of the king macle by Joh de Langele in the name of the king
by order of the same king at the altar ol the priory of 8t Michaels Mount in Cornwall,
7., and for money offered by bim by order of the said king at a mass celebrated there
in honour of St Michael for the price ol one Inrge penny of the king, 7., tolal 7s. 7d

L& April. For the offering of the king al the oltar in his chapel there, 7s,

19 April. For the offering of the king at the altar in his vwn chupel there, 7s.

23 April. For the offering of the king made by Sir William le Brayn in the name of the
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smme king at the altar of 8t Geovge in the chureh of St Maurice of Plymplan {and|
the altar of 5t Maurice in the same chuvel, at each place s, and ab twn masses cele-
brated at the same altar [or the king in the presence of Lhe sume Sir Willinm, at cach
mass 7o, total 155, 2d. On the same day for the offering of the king al the altar in lis
chapel in the priovy of Plympton, by the hands of Sir Henry, almoner of the king, s,

24 April. Netivered to Johin the candlemaker of the king Lo offer in the nome of the snme
ki at i certain mass which the same John made to be celebrated for thie same king
at the high altar in the chureh of 3t Geovge of Asheombe [Ashevonmive] near Bxeter,
together with one large eandle, Td. Also to the same on the sanue day to oiter in the
name of the same king at the said altar of 8t Cieorge at Asheombe by the hands of
RHanult Lescot, carrying the money Lo the same John, s,

2n Aprit. Fur the offering of the king al the altar in his chupel within the priery of
Plympton, Ts.

To John Whyting, the king's vook, sick at Milton bebiud the king, as a grant for his
o at the time ol bis sickness, by his oven hands Lhere o the same day, 25,

26 Aprik. For the offering of the king al the altar in his chapeb within the priory of
Plymipton, 7s.

28 April. For the offering of the king al the high altar in the parish ehureh of Brigtou,
Ts.

29 April. For Lhe oftering of the king at the high altar in the parish church of Newton
Forrers, 7s.

30 April, For the offering of the king mode there by Ste Henrey the almoner inchonour of
St Eutroplius], 7s.

L May. For the offerings of the king at the bigh adtar in the parish church at Newton
Ferrers, s

2 May. For the olferings of the king at the: high altao o the pavisly chuvelr @t Briston in
honour of Blessed Mary, 7. Oor Lhe saome day tor the ofterings of the ke made by
John Champnent in the name of the same king af the high altar of the chureh ol 5L
Mary at Plympton in honour of the same saint, 3s.

3 May. For the offerings of the king at the evross of Gouytl in his chapel within the prio-
ry of Plymaplon, 5s., and to the thorns of the evown of Christ in the same chapel. 3=,
total 8. On the stue day for wax tor the eblations of the king at the body of Chrisl in
the siune chapel by the lands of Hlenry] the almoner, 5s.

5 Muy. For the otfaings of the king al the altar in the same chapel by the hands of the
s, T -

6 May. For the aftecings of the king at the same altar in the same chapel by the hands of
thae stime, 7s, '

EA series ol olforings are omitted here that were to be sent to churches in Franee |
[f ¥zl

7 Moy, For the oftering of the king ol the altar in his chapel at Sutton in honour of St
Julin of Beverley, confessar, 75, On the saume day for the oflering of the kg ab the high
allar in the church of St Andrew of Sutton, by the hauds of Siv Philip de Euerdon, by
order af the king, 7s. On the same day for the offering of the kiop at the high allar in
the pavish chuveh of St Mary, Plympton, made by the hands of Sic J. de Benstede in
the nome of the same king, 7s.

To Friar Peter Calenlus and Friar Raymond de Burdesal, of the Geder of flinars of
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Bayonne, by gift and alms of the king on their return lowards their own parts, by their
own hands at Suttan in the port of Plymouth, 7 Mav, 10 marcks [£6 13s. 4d.].

To [Priar Peter de Pinibus and his fellow frinr of e Ovder of Preachoers of Bayonne,
by gift and abma of the king in the same manner on their retuen towawds thetr own
parts, by their own hands in the same ploce on the same day, 10 marks.

To the Carmelite Friars of Sutton, for their food [prtura) for three days on the
arrival ol the king there in the wonth of May, by Lhe hands of Sir Henry the almoner
there on the same day, 8s.

To the Friars Minor of Bodmin tAbLomine] in Cornwall by gitt and alms of the king
designated tor their food for three days by the hand of Sir Fleney the almoner of the
king there, 8 May, 40s.

9 May Far the offering of the king in his chapel al Erinington in honour of 8L Nicholas,
Ts.

10 May. Tor the offering of the king in his chapel at Asbbactan, 75, To the Friars Minor ol

Dorchester lor their tuod for three days during the transit of the king there in the
month of May, by the hands of Priar Nicholas of Excter, 325,

For the olferiys of the king in his chapel at Chodlegh, 10 May, 7=, al the inaye of

Blessed Nichelas at Exeter by the hands of J. de Langele made as an offering o the
name of the king, 7s., at the image of Blessed Mary in the church of Otteey hy the
hands of J. de Benstede on the snme day, 7s., at the imoge of Blessed Michael in the
church of Honiton, 13 May, 7s. 4

To the Friaes Preachers of Exeter lor their food for four days, viz. three days at the
advent of the king there in the middle of April and one day, viz, Palm Sunday, while
the king was at sington [fstinton], by the hands of Frinr Nichatas of Wrotham ot
Cllyst, 48,

To Lhe Frinrs Minor of the same town by the hands of Friar John de Fulham there,
£5s, dd.
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there ws waool munubacturers in Pigot’s 1823 direetory. Lysons, writing in 1822, veeovids
that there was o large manufactory for spinning wool in the Lown and that wool was
sent to Exetee markel.'™ In the same yvear [tichard Frarklen, a visitor to Qttery, wrote
that the woeollen manutactary of Ball and Fowell employed hotween 200 and 300 por-
song, principally women and children, and that the greater part of the output went to
Kidderminster to the carpet weavors.H

In 1823 the factory wag advertised for sale by auction in the Birmingham Gazette, T
is deseribed as having been constructed by the Inte Sir George Yonpe at o cost of £40.000
and Lo be fnuse as a spinning mill fin the carpet and lace trades."! Also on offer wus the
Hour nxill, n 1824 the new proprietor, J. Newherry, converted the fuctory to silk spinniug
and weaving and he and his suceessor, O Nowherey, ave shown as proprietors ol an
apparently suceessful sitk mill in trades directories up ta the 1870s. Towever, the tithe
apportivnment of 1843 shows the owner of both the factory and the four mill to be Mis
Fowell, the Newherrys appear thorefore to have been lesees. Ina Parliamentary Report
of 1839 the factovy s stated to have cmployed 325 persons of whom 87 were aged
between 18 and 18, six hetween 9 and 13 and two were children andoer §.1%

On 16 June 1882, Noewbeery having retived or died, Lhe frechold of e Factory was put
up for auction ot the New London Hotel, Excter, being deseribed as o silk mill equipped
with cleaning, winding, doubling, Lhrowing, =pinning and weaving machinesy which is
Hsted in detail and indieates a sizeable entecprise. Over 18 acres of land adjucent to the
factary and along the leat, ineluding kud at the bead weir, were included, as was the
Bour milt, " The schedule deseribes the layomn of the Factary, The ffth fleor housed clean-
g machines, the fourtl door winding and cleaning machines, the thivd and second
Hoors woere weaving vooms, the first Noor was a cleaning and stove coom and the ground
floor homseat ¢ spinning room and the wheelwright's shop. On the coof was a Targe lead
vistern and a bedl tower aod bell, Byvery Hoor had o baleony Teading to a WOl [n addition
there wag a boiler Tiouse, accdye honse and various ancillary builedings, Gas and hot waoter
were Iaid on througheut. The wheel was then a breast wheel though the original eigh-

teenth century whoeel may have been overshot ag theye 1s mention of an 18 faot Bl of

witter in the 1823 cabe particalara.

What happened during the subsegquent 16 vewrs is not elear, The 1889 ordnance map
Iabels the building as ‘Sitlk Mill, Disused’ and not antil 1898 does the story become clear
when the faclary was leased to BR P dwavd) Coleberd, proprictor of many entrepri-
neurial vontures in the Westeountry. 7 He eatablished in the factory a diversity of busi-
nesses, These included agricultural and medicing chewmieals manufacture, mineral
water productian and bottling, paper and paper bag manufacture, printing, and electri-
eal enyineering. The factory under Coleberd provided Ottery's first electric power in
L912, This was generated by turbines - the old wheel pit having boeen remaved to accom-
modate them - and the Ottery St Mary Electric Light and Power Company came inlo
beiug. ¥ The owner of the lactory at this time was Lord Coleridie.

The various Coleberd enterprises located in the factory appear in trades directories
untit about 1920, However in 1817 B85 & A Robinson acqwired the lease and made
paper bags and gramophone veeord sleeves there. In the 19305 Rice of Bxeter, shirt
makers, and Bidwell of Axminster who made toathhrushies occupied part of the build-
ing. ' Robinson’s lease expived in 1938 and the empty building was requisitioned doring
the war for the billeting of troops Alter the war i 1947, the factory was acquired ram
Lovd Coleridge, the then owner, by GM Bngineering {Acton) Lid, and was much extend-
e with new workshops which were built over the land which ariginally formed the gar-
dens and tennis courts helonging to the factory. Later the Compauy becaune Ottermill
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Switchgear Lid. Unuil very recectly the building has been veeupivil by Cutler-Ilammoer
Ltd. who are nlso manufucturers of electrical switchgear. However, at the tine of writing
Cutler-Hammer has announced that it is shutting down s manufacturing in Ottery
and vaeating the faclory. This, in addition to its serious effeet on loead emplovinent,
makes the fture of this historie building very uncectain and efforts are being made Lo
find on allernative use for it..

The authar is indebted to Poter Flarris, Bobert Neat and Cheis Saunders of the Otlery
St Mary Hevitnge Society and to "Tim Caulfield for genevously providing information.
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GOTHIC REVIVAL IN NORTH-WEST DEVON - SOME
EXAMPLES OF VICTORIAN CHURCH RESTORATION

Part Two

Michael Weller

This arlicle seeks Lo look al the nature of the Vietorian vogue for church restoration and
both clecical and lay reactions to it in the area north of Dartmeor. In Part One the
parishes of Highampton and Bridestowe were examined, the former having an carly
(1834} {and seemingly unopposed by parishioners) restoration and extension which nev-
crtheless, in the interest of increasing the seating eapacity, destroyed completely the
medieval north wall of the church. In the case of Bridestewe {1859), loeal opposition was
s0 great that subsequent restoration was hoth delayed and limited in scope. [n this parct
a quarter of a century of ill-feeling between the reforming rector of Northlew and some
sections of the congregation is considered and the article concludes with a relatively
straightforward restoration, that at Germansweck.

The sometime chaplain of Parkhurst prison, thirty-nine year old Themas England,
aceepted Lhe Hving of Northlew in the spring of 1847. This was a parish that had experi-
enced no clevgyman in permanent residence within living memory, indeed not since Lhe
micldie of the previous century. The church and the runoiog of it therefore had been left
largely in the hands of the churchwardens, and the performance of the services in the
hands of a series of curates employed by absentec rectors swho held plural livings and
resided too far distant to conduct any serviee.! The hopeful new clergyman found that
the fonl, which he excitedly recoguised as belng of Nerman origin, was *..in a mutilated
state one of the four piltars broken and placed leaning against a pillar of the nave.” The
exterior of the tower and the north-west corner of the church were it seems ‘half-buried’
by soil which must have resulted in darap walls” St. ‘Thomas Dayt, the patronal festi-
val, was, he found (to hig constornation in 1848) stil celebrated in the village but the
church was ‘deserted’ the population being given over to 'sports, wrestling and swearhy?’
olherwise known as the ‘Northlew Revel’ In general the congrepation were ‘unpunctual’
at services ag was arvival at the Vestry meelings. also Lhe choir had been *ullerly broken
up’. Understandably therefore the rector wished for the patronage of .o Gentleman in
the Parish. oswithout one the rector foels powerless, being quite without aid. The laity
have no head.” As if to pour salt in the wound the curate then told the rector that he
feared (hal the vestry would refuse to grant the next chureh rate that was reguested.

Thomas Fngland treied havd to reform the habits of the villagers; he acranged lor a bell
to be rung to remind pavishioners when to come to churely, he attended the Vostry meet-
ings and opened them with prayer. [n the church he placed some L ribbons for book
markers..” but these were soon ' cut off and carvied away.” *The same lack of reverence. .
{he wrotel. is shown in God's Acre, the parish Graveyard’. ‘Church feeling.. (he noted in
July 18511, would appear Lo be almost past recovery” At least by the summer of the next
year the font had been repaired but the schoolmastar had gone and the potentially large
Bible Class had ‘fell off”. Despairingly he wrote “Cherve would appear to be prejudice
abroad as to any efficient real education amongst the pavishioners” Writing in July 1856
Thomas England could still lament ‘.education heing sadly backward, both in religion
and secular matters — there seems to be ..a prejudice against matters of vseful insteuc-
tion such as the history and geography of Devonshive... the young schoolmaster repovts
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thal many parveats decline having their children taught such *unnecessary items”™., and
wge this it seems as an exeuse to refuse to pay the school fees’™ Bul Lthe greatest enuse of
his irritation remained the annual ‘revel. In 1852 this included *... Booths, shows & a tray-
elling theatre. " no chance for any Chureh sorvice, or recognition of the venerable &...
beautiful Place of Worship memorial of the loving piety of our ancestors.” During Sunday
services the congregation refused to join in the responses loaving this to the Parish Clerk
who was frail and of advancing age. However by the next yeae Lhe church was vpened on
“Thomas Day’, at {east for a school service which was fullowed by ‘. .n testival in Lhe
Rectory grounds, a Public tea given to them, with games afterwards.” 8o the children al
least were Lo be weaned from the sin of the Northlew Revell In 1854 the rector noted with
pleasure that there was . not much noise ol violent sporls..” on that day and felt
.eneouraged to preach the move against all *revelling”™? Nevertheless the chureh [abric
was suflering ... the roof and windows... inereasingly frail: wet increases, deaft so groat as
to tempt an increasing awmber to go to chapel with the plea that their ecombort is consid-
evad, while those responsible for the safety of the Church neglect their duly...” Indecd it
Lad proved impossible . 1o oblain even a quarter.’ of the Chureh rates!

The rector had already privately envisaged restoration of Novthlew Church and by
Easter of 1858 plans were in hand to construct a now east wall to the chancel with a win-
cdow and a reredos eomplimented with new tablets of the Creed, the Ten Commandments
and the Lord's Prayer® It was completed the next year and the rector wrote proudly of the
work L4t s considered all vound the neighbourhood as o tasty & beautiful recedos and
windew, Friends have proposed a plan for having tinted glass; indeed o painted window.
Now the rector starled to dream of further improvements; not only ‘Choir seats, Prayer
Desk and Lectern’ but ‘.what is desirable to he done, Lo restore the fabrie to carly
warvrangements for Divine Serviee..” [ other words he now looked to the Gothie idy] 7
Another development which proceeded hand in hand with this kind of restoration pro-
gramme was the introduction of & harmenium to accompany the singing. Such an instru-
ment was produced in the spring of 1862 and played by the yeetor’s eldest daughter
Bruily Jane who was also the choir mistress until her untimely demise al the age of twen-
ty-four in November the same year The death was in some part attributed thy the ree-
tar) to her eftorts (which were probably in addilion to running the household of o wid-
owed father) on behalf of the choir. Her health he recalled ‘.,.1it’evifjtxsly much taxed by
double work... began rapidly to fail, after the Harmonium class instruction.’

Although the chapcel had been restored in part, the Holloway Chapel which lay par-
allef to it on the south side was by 1861 . unsightly from damp & decay” But as a pri-
vate chapel this was technically neither the responsibility nore the prerogative of rector,
churchwardens or Ecclesiastical Commissioners and thus had to rely on the descen-
dants of those who had originally built it tor repairs! Countrywide, incumbents were
powerless to force ‘owners’ of such chapels to repair them; which often inhibited their
owun restoration success. Sadly the much venerated chancel vestoration Lad not been
entively successful. In July 1863 the rector noted that *. the new Chancel walls, & rere-
dos have not dried as expected — even the tablets which were sent for all the way [rom
Bath, have nol become fit for lettering. The beautifully fine elose grained stone seoms to
imbibe the damps of the dimate, & the paint is peeling oft — the lower part of the neat &
tasty diaper® work alveady obliterated..” By the following year it became obvious that
the flluminated lettering intended for the tablets eould never be applicd and it was
decided to affix zine tablets over the top. To make matters worse the damp from Lhe
[Toloway chapel had now ‘injured’ Lthe south chancel wall.

In 1868 the Reverend Mr BEngland turned his thoughts to the removal of the west
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wallery, the presence of which he saw as a “.greal impediment indeed to the mainte-
nance of a proper conteol over the pavishioners congregating al that part, especially in
the chiming chamber of the Tower.” One of the rector’s goals had always been the open-
ing of the tower arch into the ehreh. It seems hikely that this had heen Blocked up with
some form of wooden panelling when the gallery had been evected for the singers pre-
sumably during the eighteenth century. The root of almost all trouble relating to the
parish church was, in Thomas England’s view, the fact that no elergyman had actually
resided in the parish sinee al least the death of Mr Holland Coham in 1777 coupled with
the fact thal there was no lay person '...of position...” to assist Lhe clergy either by moral
or linancial leadership. To these two issues he unerringly velated all problems through-
out hig tong incumbeney.

England often refers to the Rural Dean having visited the church and having made
numerous recommendations in wriling in the early 1820s. At the time the curate
“.made complaint of the unsafe condition of the ofty Rood Sereen; not being altended to
by the .. Ralepayers, he appealed {0 the rural dean, who gave notice to the churchwar-
dens that it was either to be solidly vepaired, ov altogether removed,” [n fact i scoms
that this medieval Lreasure which would (prior to their probable destruction at the
Retormation ov duving the Civil War) have carried large images of the Crucifixion
flanked by figures of the Virgin Mary and 8t John was actually ‘patehed up’ using wood
Laken from old reading desks which Themas England (doubtless rightly) describes as
having disfigured ‘.. the elaborate corving of the screens. However allbough the rector
complained a great deal, little if any further restoration seems to have been carried out
at this time. Being the rector of Northlew was over an uphill task, [n common with his
comtemporaries ab other churches the incumbent was trying to encourage greater atten-
danee at [as well as o it sebting G the Hely Communion service. The imporlanee and
centritlity ol this service had been largely diminished by the contempt for the Moss
engendercd by the Refermation. thus local enthusiasm for Communion was still sorely
lacking. When Thomas ingland came to Northtew celehrations tonk place only threo
times o yenr® but persunding the Novthlew Folks to actually receive the elements proved
ditficult sinee cven as late as 1872 Thomas bewailed that, A hxed & deeply rosted idea
seems to prievail in the parish tat recipiency s intended valy . for "renllelnlks™ & old
persons — exhortations both public & private sevtor appear to have no power,.

The winter and spring ollowing were severe & tempestuous’, but by the following
May the reetor had, it scems paid Tor g new roof covermy himself whilst also appealing
to local Tandowners for aid and proposing o Tea Fenst to raise funds, The extencexponse
on the chaneel roof proved to Hitle avail as domp wos <l coming through from Lhe
Holleway Chapel. This neglect of the stde chapel must have seemed all the meove weritad-
ing sinee the nearby Ashbury Church haed been completely restared duving 1872 by
Archdeacon Wonlleombe whn was o great fricnd of thi reetor, Sadly theee yoars later in
1875 the reetor conld still G a Bittle shakilyy weite, ‘Anothoer winter is committing
mereased damoge to the South wall & S5 angle of the Chaneel threo” the damp pro-
ceeding (rom the dilapidation of that aisle - it is very hard upon a vector feng engaged i
restoring his chancel to be stopt in his worle. 1o facl Thamas Eogland never saawv the
full restoration of the chanee] completed in o satisfactory manner nov did he sec the
removel of thi: panetling and galery at the back of the chureh and the tnstallation of
new hench pows, although all these things as well as steuctural works at Lhe oorth-west
angle of the tower meluding Lhe consbrction of a vesley, took place under his sucocssor
botween 1883- 1884, The mueh lanwemited medieval sereen was i scems ramoved fn part)
at this time, surviving only to tyansam rail height as is shown in o photograph dated
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elrea 1886 ot prasent hung in the chureh, 't

At about the time of Thomas England's greatest frustrations the Reverend Samucl
Andrew who was both Reetor of Hadwill and eurate of Germanswesk!! took on the task
of restoring hoth of his churehes. Whitat his pavishioners do not seenn to have thwated
hiny at pvery turn some exbracts from his corresponeence with regard Lo Germansweek
Chureh will serve Lo indieate perhaps atypieal’ rostoration proeedure. Hlaving compled-
ed Flalwill €. ond made o pretty little chureh of it by December 1870 the curate wrote
te the HCBSY™ C proceeding with Germansweek, and although the times are nol very
propitious, owing to the exten demands fur now selioald throughaut the county ', mu.s:t
try to acesmplish Q.. tin haping that the [CBS wouted allow o erant, he continued)... The
parish i very poor and have respanded vory freoly to my appeal... (making it clear that
ber will bean some of the cost himself) .. the fabric of the chiuceh as well as the seats are
in o most lamentahle condition - everything in fact capidiy hastening to decay! [ndeed
the chureh can seareely be said to be fit for the porformanec of divine service, sa much so
that the cangregation will not much longer be held fagether unless active and energetic
steps are tuken to eestare it

Germansweele chureh like Novthlew also possessed a west gallery which was eight
feet deep with (it seems) eight benches, each of which was six feet in length accommo-
dating three persons, Unlike those at Northlew and Bridestowe the nave seats at
Germansweek were like the gallery ones, uniform in size and arranged in rows rather
than vandomly placed and ireegular sized box-pews, By the re-arrangement of the nave,
south transept and aisle seating the accommodation s Germansweek was, notwith-
slanding the removal of the gallevy, incrensed in capacity although it must be noted that
in a full church a seat width of 20in for adults and a mere Ldin for children (the mini-
mum dimensions favoured by the ICBS) are less than haleyon!

There were stipulations made as a eondition of the grant by the ICBS in Januwary
1871, both in respecel of the aisle passages which had to be a minimum of 2 Sin wide
and in regard to the space ‘under the roof stating’ which they stated must be 2in . left
for ventilation... (also} .. the commen rafters should be 4" by 3" instead of 24" x 312", the
dimensions favoured by the builder, it seems that some sovt of amended plan was sub-
sequently sent Lo the society since in February they replied to prevent a plece of avchi-
tectural vandalism; ‘..the opening oceupied by the stairs to the rood loft be teft open
with a view from the lransept into the chancel if the stairs do not exist and on no
aecount to be bricked up as shown. T4 is possible to infer from this that the stairs and
conceivably part of the rood sereen itself was still fn place, although it may be that as at
Northlew the condition of the wood was so poor that the sereen was for acsthetic, if not
structural, reasons then removed as part of the restoration.

[t had also been proposed that “The South Window against the tower was made larg-
ce.” althougl this suggestion, which would have alteved both the interier and oxterior
appearanes of the church was gueried by the [CBS. Samuel Hooper (who scems to have
acted as both architect and builder) responded on 17 February 1871 thal the reason was
*..to admit of move light... (since it was)... dark at that end” Hooper insisted in the same
letter that the ventilation gap between the slates and the plaster ‘would be adequate’.
The restoration of Germansweek Chureh was probably completed in the spring of 1873,
On 25 July Samuel Andrew wrote to the ICBS thanking them for the grant of £25. His
letter tells us much about how Victorian clergy viewed these projects: “Phe work has
caused me much labour, anxiety and { havdly need add, expense to bring it to comple-
tion, bud as it has had the cffect of trebling the congregation and alse enabled me to
secure the services of a Hesident Clergyman after a lapse of centuries of non residence. .’

17



Samuel Andrew was, it seeins, very satisfied with the outcome.

[n summing up restoration work in the area it is worth remarking that the notion of
preserving exactly and restoring with traditional matevials all parts of the ancient af
any cost is a modern concepl. although the scemingly wanton destruction of somve pur-
Lions of church Eabric notionally, bocause they did not it in with the architoct M or cer-
ryman’s basle and woull inerease seenmmaocdation, or seem more aesthelically pleasing,
began Lo wain fater in the Victoriun era under Lthe influeace of the Bociety for the
Presgrvation of Ancient Buildings. This is not to say that major projects did not continue
inlo the varly bwvendieth centuwry. At the tiny moorland church of Sourton the general
restoration was only completed in 1901 and ot Inwardletgh the chuceh building was
extended by the construction of a new vestrey i 1913, Indeed Lhe addition of a vestry
had becn one of the moest common ingovations cither next to the chancel as at
Bridestowe (1866) and at Exbourne (1884 or at the back of the church in the angle
helween tower and side aisles ag at Northlew (1884 Rond sereens or their remainsg
wore aften Lhe subjects of restoration. That ot Novthiew, lurgely a new steucture bug
incorporaling some original wood, wias completed in 1823 including a vood loft which can
still be accessed from the original spiral slone stateease. [ inchudes the figures of Christ,
the Virgin Mary and St John, and would no doubl have greatly heartened the Reverend
Thomas England returning as il does a medieval atmosphere to the church.

Notes

I James Silke AN who wis instituted to the reclory of Novthlew in 1735 (hul resided
at Bugkland Filleighy did employ a residing curate, one William ¥illman, o deacen
who enubd not thevefore initiatly celebrate Holy Communion, thus fureing the von-
gregation to walk Lo Ashbury Chuireh on Communion doys, Willineg Maare. the roe-
Lo [eom 1777 lived at South Tawton but took services al lus other tiving, the chureh
al Sprevton,

2 This and subsequent quotations by Uie Reetor of Novthlew are all talen from s kind
af diary which he kept somewhat miged vp in one ot the Vestry Books.

4 I'his was probably due to suecessive conturies of burials ralsing the ground level
nuy feet and the proximity of the soil o the stonework cousing nuch damp.

4 i more usugd to eelebrate St Thomas Beelet ou the day of his martyrdom, 20
Dacembrer However sinee this is so close Lo Christmas, 7 July when the weather is
likely to ber fine romains fo fhis day the choiee at Northiew. 7 July is the date of
Thomas Beckets translation,

a8 ORfen known as the schoal penee (although a relatively small sum? paid by parents,
TPree and cormpulsury education had not yet arrived. Rural sehools were chiefly pro-
vided by the Nuational Seciety for the Bducation of the Poor in the Principles of the
Established Chucel, e addilion to government grants the Churely of England spont
much tine and effort o establishing and financing sueh sclwats with the help of
subseriplions from local people and often by large donations frony local worthies. [t
was the goal of most Vietorinn clergy boll to vestore thelr church and Lo open a
schoot whoere one did not exisl.

G These ttems were commongiace in the mid-Victorian pertod and survive in farge
numbers, either painted on hoards or in some cases made up as an alter pivee,
owever those introcduced by Thomas England were never completed it seems, Gaee
text).
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7 By the 18705 (when he was perbaps the most deeply disappointed by decodes of
frustration al the hands of the Northtew parishioners, often writing of Low ‘alore
he felt in trying to gain funds nod moral support for chureh vestoration projects the
rector wrote almost poetically of past medioval and even Saxon idyvls. For him
medieval congrepations were saintly in theic observances and the Reformation wis
seen as o cultoral and moreover spivitual disaster, There is no doubl that whilst it
sems unlikely that he was in any real way an Anelo-Catholic he very much
favorred the contradity of the Sacraments and a return Lo religious imagery which
many non-conformists would have regneded as papeory. Torguay was the contre of
Anglo Catholic Ritualism as far as Devon was coneernel,

8 Diaper wark may be defined ag ‘surface deeoration of diamand shaped patterns”.

9 Christmas, Easter and Whitsun being the national sorms” althoush "Trinity might
be substituled [or the Intter and Michaelmas was sometioes an additional colebra-
Lion,

13 This photograph als, shows an impressive array of candlesticks (two multi-
branched) on the aliar which is highly suggestive of vitualism, although whether
these were the work of the new incwnbent or introduced by Thomas England vne
catmoel say

Il Samuel Andrew M.A. (Dxon 18411 Rector of Halwill from 852, Curate of
Germansweek from 1869, Rural Dean of Holsworthy 1869-1873. Headmastor of
Truro Gr. School 1802- 1844,

12 The Incorporated Chureh Buildiog Socicty established in 1818 whith wade grants
to churchoes for uew buildings and also very widely to churches wishing ro inerease
their aveommedation for poor parishioners.

13 Sce the sceond halfof note 5 above,

14 Bwaa Christian for many years the Architeet e The Beelesiastion) Commissioners
and thus responsible for the restoradions of o great many chancels (they oflen being
the responsilility of the Commissioners, wherens the vest af the chureh was the
responsihitity of the pacishl and whole chanches, completely aftered the appearance
of the west end of Canterbury Cathedral during the LE60s to suil his own taste,
Luckily perhaps he appeavs (o have had Jittle ¢ifect in Devon, although he did work
on the re-seating and repair of All Suiats” af South Milton (1883) and similar at. St.
Paul’s Staverton (15500,

Sources
Lambeth Palace Libracy

Nogrthiew ICBS 8840
Ciermansweek [CRS 7209

Information about other parishes mentioned in the fext comes principally from the
ICRS duta base accessed rom a computer in the search room at Lambeth.

Devon Record Offiee {Bxctort

The notes of Thomas England wre: found at catalogue numbor 2885A0/PSI (Vestry minute
Book} written in botweon the minutes of vestry meetings in a rather random manner,
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EMIGRATION TO NORTH AMERICA FROM TORQUAY

R. A. PERKINS

Puosseage in Newfoundiand vessels:

The numbers who emigrated by direet sailings ivom Torguay were small compared to
Plymaouth or the north Devon ports. Many must have taken passage to Newfoundland
and later in the timber ships to the Miramichi or St. Andrews, Those who took up the
advertisements for ‘freight and possage’ in merchant ships in the late eighteenth e
carly nineteenth centuries largely went unrecorded. Typical of these satlings wos the
hrig Secidous, Nicholas Mudge, master, owned by Whiteway Mudge & Co. of Torquay:
she was advertised as departing from Torgquay about 25 March 1820 and arrivend al
Newfundland via Lishon on 20 Junel. In the following vear the fast sailing schooner
Forondia, WO Henly, master, was advertised as sailing divect for St. John's with cxeelltnt
aceonunodation for passengers; Lhe agents were Richard Henljey and John Alsop of
Newton Abbot. She arvived in Newfoundiand on 22 Oclober 18217, Some called at other
south Devon ports: the schooner Gleanes, Thos. Tlareis, master, also owned by Whitewuy
Mudge & Ca, sailed from Torquay on 10 February and from Dartmouth on 15 February
L8,

Crrrnectfons 1oith Exceer:

In the carly 18305 the peessace for emigration created an opportunity for a joint
enterprise by Exctor and Torquay merchants. B.R. Sanders of Exeter, prominent in pub-
lie Iife and a partner with Thomas Snow in o firm of wine merchants in Gandy St., teolk
Samuel Coekings of Torquay into co-partnership, They purchased the Awrora, an old ves-
sel, in 1831 and the Osear in 1832, Thetr usual agreement was for cach man to tale a
third share in the vessal!. They were behind more than hatf a dozen sailings from
Torquay to Quebee between 1832 aad 1835, Both the Awrora, R, Banks, master, and the
Ozcar, which was said to have ‘superiov accommodation for passengory’, sailed from
Torquay about 1 April 1832% Inferior accommodation was eettaiuly available: that same
yvenr early conveyance to St. Andrews, New Brunswick, for the United States of America,
was olfered by W. & 1. Ash in what they deseribed as thoe fine Fast sailing hrig
Susannah’, but evidently an old vessel known to them through their business as coal
factors at Starcross®, Tho Oscar sailed again from Torquay to Quebee w April 18447,

In March 1834 they purchased the sk from Bristol owners®. She was advertised as
having two large aivy cabins and excellent accommuodation for passengers, with an
intended departure date of 10 May, Nicholas Prowse, master”, But she did not sail for
Qucebec until 5/6 June 1834, arriving about the end of July with either 23 or 28 settiers.
The Osear is said to have sailed on 27 July and to have arvived at Quebec on 28 Awgost
with five settlers, although the passage usually took about 39 days'. Perhaps trade
overall seemed encouraging, for the {fsk was lengthened and registered ‘de nove' at
Dartmouth in March 1835t But there do net appear to have been any passengers
aboard the Osear, W. Field, master, when she sailed for Quebec on 5 April 1835, arriving
ot 14 May: and the Usk, Prowse, sailing the same day and arriving a day later, had only
len settlers!® The sk was lost in 1838 The ship-owning co-parinership of Sanders
and Snow with Cockings continucd into the 1840s but evidenee of their involvement in
any emigrant saifings feom Torquay atter L1835 has yet to come to light.
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Regulation and Officiel Retairnys:

Regulation of emigrant ships began with the Act of 18281, The Colonial Tand and
Fwigration Commission was established in 1840 and the Fifth Report of the
Commissioners, for 1845, is the first to include o return of the nwaber of vimigrants from
ihe port of Drrtmouth, which then included Torquay, for the year ending 31 Decomber
1844. These figures are best regarded as showing the extent ta which the
Sommissioners were able to inform themselves within their imited responsibilities and
for some years underestimate the numbers involved; outside the main emigration ports
they relied on gquarterly returns made by local customs officials*,

The Timber Ships:

The Torguay timber merchant John Crossman began importing timber direct lvom
the Miramichi in 1841, [n 1844 he beearme joint ewner with Thomis Steel of Tovquay of
the Margaret in which Captain Hansen took *a number of souls” to New Brunswick in
September 1846, They anchered at Neweastle on 30 September and sniled for Torguay
an 25 Octaber with a cargo of white pine, two picees of red pine, lathwond and deals't
The diramichi timber trade was then in decline. In 1847 the Morsey, W Bulley, master,
mwned by Willings of Teignmaouth and Liverpool, made two voyages to Quebee; she
suiled on 3 April to arrive on 22 May with a general cargo and live steerage passengers,
and again on 4 August, arriving on 12 September with eight steerage passengers!?. But
the level of demand for divect sailings evidently praved uneconomie for all but the tin-
ber ships for whom H provided a useful outward teade, Although the arrival of the rail-
way now made it easicr to ravel Lo other parls, the Torquay timber ships were evidont-
ly seen as & convenient means of crigralion Lo Quebee fur some [rom a wide area of
south and mid Devon. On 2 Apeil 1848 the Margearet, W Field, masler, sailed with 3
adult males, two adult fermales and theee children aged 1-14 vears, a total of eight steer-
age passengers, Lo arvive ut Queber on 10 Muy ™. This established a pattern which was
to last for the next ten years.

The Exodus of 1849

Early in 1849 a vision of Iand, wealth and freedom from social control was portrayed
in the local press which envouraged emigration, paoticodarly to the United States!™.
Torquay shipping enterprise seized the opportunity to profit. The Elizabeth, Coysh,
owned by .J Stabb & Co of Torguay. sailed lor New York on 21 March with ten or twelve
families of emigrants®®. The Kerorf, Jevvet, a clipper-schooner lnunched from Shaw's
yvard at Torquay on 10 April and pwnaod by Keeling and Hunt of London for the fru
trade, is said Lo have made her maiden voyage to New York with passengers®!. The
Isabolla, Faremaouth, owned by Thomas Steel of Torquay, sailed for Quebee with 40 pas-
sengers®, The Margaret, W. Field, sailed for Quebec in April; her passenger list has 53
names, entered between 15 and 23 Mareh?, The American ship Isabelic, Isaar Preble
commander, lelt fur Gabveston, Texas on 7 March with between 135 and 145 persons on
hoard, depending on sources. There were two births before she had left Tovbay. The
agents wore Charles Gumim of London and John Bhins of Newton Abbot. [t appears that
local prople were encouraged to emigrate to Galveston by the reports of others who hud
gone gut with survivars of the Antwerp emigrant ship Nehant some time after she waz
wrecked newr Berey Head in March 18462,

The Final Years:
An advertisement for emigration to Quebec and the United States in the Margaret
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appearcd o Febroaary 1850, the agends being Thomas Steol of Bdaoley Hlouse, Torquay,
and Thomas Biden, jun, of St Martio’s Laoe, Exeler™. The complaint af Exeter was Lhat
nothing was doune Lo assist the poor to cmigeate despite tales of the fibulous prospects
across the sea® Bmigeation ollicials woere concerned at the delay in ascerlaining the
elfiviency ol the Margaret under the tew Passenger Aet and waorvied that her repaiv at
Torquoy nught not be properly supervised, Shartiy before her departure loeal customs
officials ound ey were requived to supply the master with two capices of the passenger
Acl and six eopivs ol the Commussioners absteaet, but had nane™ . She sailed for Quebee
on T Apnil and ngadn on 26 July, luking perhiaps 27 emigrants in tatal®.

In 1850, Juhn Crussman purchased the Sareh Fleming, she aevived at Torquay in
company ol the Eeoac Zolfer with timbey from Miramichi o late July under the com-
mand of Thomas Crossmnn, son of the pwner, on his first vavage as captain™, The
Emma Zoffer was owned by onother Torquay timber merchaat, Jobhn Baker one of his
vosseds, the Dude of Manchesior, Vo Madge, mastier, was advertised as carveving passen-
gers to Quebee in 1851 and 1852, On 28 April 1851 the timber ship fsabette belonging
to Thomas Steel leit Torbay o Quebie with 14 conipgranis, chictly people of Torguay and
neighhourhoud™!, The Sarah Fleming advertised as departing on or about 10 April, linal-
Iy lefl on 10 May with 50 emigrants™. The Margoref went out with 51 passengers™,
This was the peak vear for the timber ships in which they took at least 115 emigrants Lo
Quebee,

In 1852 43 are revorded as leaving tor Canada, 20 ol them in the Morsgures, Codner
master, whivh sailed for QGuebee in Mareh, She again sailed fron Torquay oe 15 July
1852, On 10 September she was examined by the Quarantine Master and alivwed to
anchor ofl the Market Wharl at Guebec where she was cleared by the doctor, The crew
disobeved mrders and went aghore, returaed deunk, greatly abused both officers of the
ship and possengers ind delayed their landing vatil Spm the next day, when they bad Lo
be taken nboard the steamer for Montreal in a hived boat™, Tn 1853 she sailed on 11
April with 30 emigrants, arriving on 13 June after a very difficuli passage of 63 days,
pasevngers and crew atl well, but *..coals all out, provisions all short™, On 12 Apeil 1854
ahe lett with 10 passengers oul of the total of 24 officially recorded for the year On 12
September 1866 the Margaret, returning from Canada with timber, was driven ashore
on Tarre Abbey Sands and had to be rebuilt at Teignmouth™. In 1857 22 emiprated,
prohably in the Saras Fleming, Captain Lamzed, The Margaret velurned Lo service by
April 1858 when she satled for Quebee under the command of Captain John
Coldsworthy with 13 emigrants, Fmigration in the timber ships from Torquay appears
to hurve censed in the following vear

The Number of Emigrants:

The information eollected in this sludy cannol represent the complete picture; but it
shows that between 1820 and 1859 theve were considerably more than 30 voyages from
Tuorgquay to North America with passengers. Fo total they carvied perhaps more than 750
entigrants. At least a thivd of these left in 1849 and a3 many again in the next. five years.
tn rhe cavlier years, merchant vessels might each carry o hand{ul of emigrants. Three
wore mare than 40 in the two years 1834-35 and more than 30 in the five vears 1844-48.

Bareigreetion from the Main Ports:

[0 the 1850s as many as four or more timber ships made spring and awtumn veyages
Fram Tarquay to Quebee for Limber, but thereafter it was lavgely shipped to Plymouth
and brought round by rail After 1859 those secking to emigrate under one scheme ov
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another had little alternative but to use the main emigration ports. A Lypical scheme
was proposed by the Torquay Emigration Comumiltee which met week]y in the corly port
of 1870. The Colonial Emigration Society offered o loan of £2 to vich statute adult, to be
repaid within three years of arrival in Canada, bud the cost to the Torquay Commitlee
was £ per adult and about £3 (or a child.

Alarge numbor of applications had been received and they boped to send about 23
families, or ahout 120 persons, and 10 or 12 single men, most of whom were unem-
ploved. Miss Burdett-Cloults gave £200, sullicient for 11 Bamilics. another £200 was sub-
scribed, and the Committee made a public appeal for the balance, pointing out the: ben-
afits to be gained by alt in avoiding the workhouse. The emigrants would be shipped
from London about 28 April and forwarded free to any part of Canoda where their
Iabour was most required?”. In May 1B82 news was received of the arvival of Perision at,
her destination with 84 emigrants from Torquay to Canada; on 14 June a seeond poarty
of emigrants trom 'Torquay saited from Liverpool on the Gregon™,
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THE CHANGING PURPOSE OF PARISH HISTORIES:
POLTIMORE, REWE AND STOKE CANON

Andrew JLIH. Jackson

The entupilation of a parish history still remains a rewarding cndenvour and perhaps
the ultimate pursuit far many loeal histortans, A congiderable number of parish histo-
ries were produced through the nineteenth and twentisth centuries, and the reeent
centenary of Lthe establishment of the parish councils together with the turning of the
milleanium stimulated a furry of research activity. This artiele prosents some of the
preliminary isasues and findings relating lo a wider piece of research examining the
evolution of the parish history, the historiographical signilicance of recent communily
history projects, and the use of the parish history as a secondary historical source.
Considered heve is the changing purpose of parish histories, as reflected in a basie
exploratory study of three parishes in Devon,

Parish histories fest appeared in the seventeonth century They were the product of
a politically and culturally nspiced antiquacian movewent. While the eounty histories,
which had started to emerge in the sixteenth century, swore generally the work of the
gentry, the parish histories tended to be compiled by the clergy, who enjoyed ready
aceess to parochial archiives, The two forns of histery writing share similar pre-oceu-
pations: the ancient origins of places. e fives of natable individuals and fumilies, the
structure of loeal government and administration, tie signiflicance of church buildings
and their contents, and the value of other historie buildings and antiguilies. In the
nineteenth century the publicatinn of parish histovies woutd abound. This was the
product of an upsurge in interest in local history inspived by, s afia: considerable
archaeological activity, loeal government veform, the cxpansion of an educated middle-
clags, and a wider coltural appreciation of senses ol local identity. Despite the auwjor
changes in local rural life occurring through the nineteenth and twentieth cealuvies,
parish histories tended to perpetuate the established antiquarian formula of empha-
sising Lhe place of history prior to the Reformation, and articulating ‘elite” or *high” eul-
tural perspectives.! As W.G. Hoskins onee remarked of parish history writing: "the dead
hand of the seventeenth-contury squire still guided, until recently, the hand of the liv-
ing antiquary'? | .

[n the seannd half of the twentieth century the writing of parish historics started to
underso sume dogree af mutation, with shifts in interest towards, most noticeably: rel-
atively neglected aspects alseeial and economie life, the loeal history of the modern
pering. and now sources and meihods. These movements were influenced by a series vl
chmnges in the natwre af loeal history as a whole. The academic discipline of tocal histo-
ry was being transtormed through the pioneering work of the Leicester School. and
scholars like HLDR. Pinbierg and W.GL Hoskins. These and other leading practitioners
in academic loeal history culled for 8 movement away [rom the 'lop-down' and pre-
Relormation biases in existing research and writing; argued for the placing of loeal
studics n a thematic and explanatory historical eontext; and promoted the adaption of
new modes of investigation, such as Wandseape history and aval history. Academic local
histery has been inlluenced in turn by historical rescaveh mare broadly, which has led
to un ever move detailed and conceptually-informed understanding of the past, but also
a tendeney towards more Fragmented and speciadist analysis. [n the meantime, local
history as a popular pursuit has evolved. [t has benefited, o part, from the new agenda
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and greater knowledge being created and imparted by academic local history. In addi-
tion, there has been a ‘demoeratisation’ of the nature of authorship, with the writing of
‘amatenr” tocal history transferring from the clerpy and squirearchy to the professional
middle-classes and communily history groups. The expansion of extra-mural education
has played an importanl role in this process. Morcover, this new authorship has been
attracted to, and put into practice. many of the alternotive approaches associated with
post-war local history. At the close of the twenticth coentury, and at both academic and
popular levels, therve has also emerged a heightened appreciation of the local as sphere
of historical encuiry, as an enlity embodying heritage value and coltural distinctive-
ness, and as a basis for senses of personal and group identity.?

[n Devon a substantial body of parish history writing has been produced, much of
which has been inspired hy general initiatives, The Devonshire Association sought to
promole good practice in parish history writing though the worle of its parechial bisto-
ry section. The Devon History Sociely has helped in encouraging the formation ol local
history groups, publicising local history projects, and disseminating the findings of local
historical vescarch, The extra-mural teaching programmes thal have been offered by
the University of Exeter’s Department of Continuing and Adult Edueation, and now
Lepartment of Litelong Learning, have also played a part tn nurturing individual and
group reseincl wark. The Devonshire Assoclation, the Devon History Seciety. logether
wilh the loeal authovities have also co-ordinated morve recent attempts to promote
parish histary activity, most evidently to colncide with the centenary eolebration of Lhe
formation of the parish eouncils in 1994 and the turning of the millenniwm,?

Postwar parish history writing, therefore, veflects the degree to which locat history
lias shifted away tram the antiquarian tradition tewards new agenda and approuches,
as represented in the nadure of its authorship and historical interests, In a pilot study
of somie ol the more vecent publications produced for three Devon parishes. Poltimore,
R and Stoke Canon, many of Lhe key changes in loeal historieal writing are evi-
dent,® OF the histories examined, the elosest to the traditionad antiquarian ‘medel” is
the publication for Rewe by 'RAB, dated 1982.% It is o swall clocument, limited to four
Al-sized sides. Two sections dominate: the tiest, the 'historiead', is concerned with the
ariging of the parish, landownership, and patranage: the sceond deseribes the church, A
few brief and closing sections reler to two slone crosses, the Heetory and the village
hall. This history, one that is very ltmited in leagth, is voticeably and necessarily eon-
cise nud factual in style. [E might be assumed that tie choice af format was governed,
at leasl in part, by its practienl purpose as o feaflet designed for sale in the church,

The histovy of Poltmore by Dr Forlescue Foulkes (195:0) is similar Lo the one for
Rewe, in that there ix much conlent relating to patronage, pedigree and the chureh, A
great deal of the work is in fact a celebration of the Bampivide tamily, recording the
notoriety gained elsewhere by some of its memburs, as well s the family's role in the
focal commuaity. The publication is a longer document, 16 poagres, whicll allows for a far
fuller content. The greater length alse permits a markedly different style from that
adopted for the history of Rewe, Rather than the formal and ehjective expression asso-
cinted with much antiquarian history writing, the suthor adopts a relatively more
reflective and subjective language. I'he hrst few pages, for example, sppear to guide the
reader on an imaginary journey through the village. This section of text also seems to
soumdd a melancholic note; modern times, marked by the building of & metorway and
the loss of a long established landed family, have brought upheaval and uncertainty’
The central and greater part af the hislory returns to the antiquarian formada: the his-
Lovical beginnings of the parish, local patronage, and the significance of the church
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building.® Towards the end of the work, however, a series of brief sections reflect on
aspects of socinl Ile, moany of which have noaw passed away: the former role of the ‘big
house' in the chureh, and in the provision of educiation and employment; the place of
the one pub., now goni;, which staged an annunl ‘revel’; the custom that used to exist of
an Ascengion Day parly [or the village at the Rectory: and a onee active cricket ¢lub in
the grounds of Poltimore House”

The history of Stoke Canon published in 1985, like the histories for Qewe and
Pollimore, tukes for ity front cover an image of the chureh. There follows, however, a
wark that is evidently less antiquarian in its leanings, and closer in type to whal might
be termed a 'odern' parish history, or even ‘community’ history, (ts content and style
eauld be aseribed to a number of faclors: the history is written relatively more recontly
than the other two histories; it is the product of joint authorship and wider consulta-
tion; and it reflects the local historical culture of an 'open’ village, rather than that of o
‘closed estale village like Poltimore. Thiz history cemprises 29 pages, Its basic lormaol
suggests observance of some of the tradilional conventions, with o number of typical
seetions: the 'History', the 'Parish Chureh!, and 'Other buildings'. The content, thovgh,
mualkes various departures from the antiquarian approach. The place of historical on-
srins, the church, leading familics, and patronage do nol dominate the text.! They are
equailed, and to some extent surpassed by, coverage of twentieth century hislory and
descriptions of local social and economic life, as reflected in significant sections on
“Fowards today', ‘Stoke Canon School and 'Business and insdustry'. ! Two other notes
are alsa telling. On the final page is Lhe statement Lhal the proceeds from the sale of
the hooklet are in aid of the Stoke Canon Church Restoration Fund. This suggests that
the history might well have been written mindful of a community purpose and reader-
ship. In addilion, contlained in an editor's nate is an acknowledgement of collaborative
work, and the challenge of adeguately acconumedating the range of historieal knowt-
edge held within the conununity, ™

A second history of Stoke Canon published in 1997 is Lhe clearest departure from the
antiquarian tradition of parish history writing.'* Most striking is perhaps the absence
of an image of the parish church an the front cover, The document was produced in
order to mark the centenary of the parish council, and was written by the Parish Clork,
Dennis Davey. It is based Inrgely un the couneil's minate books, and accordingly covers
just one hundred years of local life. There is also acknow ledgement of some supple-
mentary sources; orgl, photographic, s well as the existing parish histories written for
Stoke Canon. The net result eonstitutes both a lseal history of the madern period asg
well as a2 commuanily history, o iL discusses o browd eross-section of the inhabitants,
varions issues and dispules, simificant village events, locat planning and development
matters, and the attifudes and responses to national evenls, emergencies and govern-
ment legisiation. Even move so than the village's other history, this account of life in
Sioke Canon reads as o popular celebration rather than an authoritative work of his.
torical reference. This s echoed further in the inclusion of 14 photographs for the con-
tre of the worl, lavgely of group porteaits laken to vecord local events.

This article indicates how parish histories embody mulliple and changing meanings.
They nre pevhaps first and foremost collections of local historical information — and
valuable as such. In addition, they are constructions, even artetacts, of a shifting roral
sucial structure; and, to some extent related, they are the products of the evolving pur-
suit of local histary, both academic and popular Such meanings in parish histories are
determined by, and conveyed through, the nature of Ltheir authavship, the manner ol
their content, :nd the interrelationship between the two. It is suggested here that the
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recent proliteration in parish history writing in Devon and more generally invites fur-
ther historivgraphical investigation,
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A HALF-TRUTH IN A LEGEND

Rl Glanvill and Mary Freeman

1 No. 66 of The Devon Historian!, we enquired info a story that Judge John Glanvill of
Kilworthy, Tavistack, had disinherited his eldest son, Francis, in favour of his second
son, Johit whe nugmanimously restored the estate to Franeis, This legend is not true, in
that the Judge dicd intestate in 1600, Francis inherited a fow years later, and Johin never
possessed the estate. The elements of the tale were that Franeis was dissolute, and that
Joha inherited but gave the estate back to his elder brother, by presenting the deeds in o
covared dish at a feast. We speculated thal the story had been transmittod by gossip at
Lincotu's Inn until it reached prmt in 1651, in Burnets Life of Iele, There was however
na evidence that Francis had actuully mishehaved,

(i the very week that owr article was printed, one of us (RJG) cnme across o PRO eot-
wlague referenes? under the name Jolm g Canoeyle, which from the conlent obviously
applicd to Judge Glanvill, The decument in questian was dated 1 February, 42
Elizabetln, that is, soven months before the judge met his sudden death on 27 July, 1600,
It explaing the ovigin of the story that Francis was disinherited, even though that event
never happened,

The indenture was hetween the judge and Willinm Helman gentleman his servant,
who was probably his clerl, with Lthe stated intention of providing a jeinture for the

judge's wife Alice, The purpurt was to put all the Glanvill property in trust to Willisim

Holman and twoe other nomed colleagues at Lincolw's {nn, for the use of the judpe and
his wife for their lives, Afler thelr decepse the property was to pass to Johin, theiv see-
ond son and Lis heirs male, with the excoption of Sortridge which was the jointure for
Alice and after to go to the third son. Thomas. b defaudt of male beirs to son John, the
inberitance waonld pass to Thomas,and only 1 homas had oo male heirs, W Franeis the

Judpe’s eldest son. [Fthe mate line from FPrancis ited, certain propertics were Lo pass Lo

two nuphews of the judge, sons of his brothers, both alse named Jolue, and to the judge's
daughters. The: loeations of the judge’s properties were given but most of them were not
namel individually.

After this detailed future disposition of the Glanvill estates was spelled out, the judge
allowed himseolf & gel-out clause: *Provided abwvays that il the said John Glanvyle the
elder shall be at any time hivesttter minded and determined 1o make void this present
deed. . by word or writing .. Uhat it shall be lawful for the said John Glanvyle the elder
into all and every part of the premises to re-enfer and the same to retain again as in his
turmer estate.”

This rediscoveved document is elearly nol a will [t gives Lthe impression of being
drawn up i a burey, What happened to it alter | February is not konown. It is apparent
that the judege was extremely sogry with Francis, reasons not stated, The intention was
presumably to frighten Francis, who was a student al Linesln’s Inn at the lime, into het-
ter hehaviour and abedicnee. Brolher John was then fourteen, and ‘Thamas anly a small
boy. whether the judge relented and voided the Decd, or whether it weas lost ar con-
cealad, we do not know. 1 is oot wentioned in the Inguisition post-mortem’ that listed
the judge’s properties and numed Franeis as heir IL does however provide o basis for the
disinheritance story. John the son wuse have seen i, if not at the time ten later when
he went to Lincolns Inn, and we suppose that he added an sceount ot it to the stovy of
the silver dish and the property deods, in conversation with his lowyer friends. At least
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it shows thal the restitution story was not entirely a ligment of Burnet’s or Matthew
Hale's, imagination, even if they did get it wrong,

References
1 The Devon Historian 66, 8-12 2003,
2 PRO ref B4Y2, Indenture of John Glunoyle the Elder. 42 Elizabeth (1598 0.5.).

[

PRO rel. CL42/271 items 58. John Glanvyle, Inguisition pust-mortem. 44 Elizabeth
{1602).

A PLAQUE FOR W.G. HOSKINS (1908-1994) CBE, FBA,
D.LITT

Robin Stanes

The Council of the Devon History Seciety has given me permission to arrange the seb-
ting up, on their behalf, of o Blue Plague to W, G Hosking, in Exeter. [b can’t be needful
to explain to readers of this magazine his claims to fame but, as a reminder, his book
The making of the English Landscape (1955) was seminal to the serious study of the
English Landscape and his Loca! History in England helped to make that subject
respeetable academically. [t should be said that he was not alone in this pioneering
work, Herberl Finberg, Maurice Beresford and Joan Thirsk are jusl some names of his
contemporaries who excelled in the same sort of work, They were academies first and
foremost, he was a true scholar oo, but succeeded in making the study of the landscape
and of local history accessible to all.

He was a Devonian, his forbears were bakers in Excter and before that yeomen farm-
ers in cast Devon and west Dorsct. e was born in Exeter and died at Cullompton bug
lived a good deal of his working life in Oxfordshire and Leicestershire, He took great
delight in his native county and had visited every parish and every parish chureh in it.

He published his Deconshire Studies twith H, P R. Finbergl in 1952 and bis Devon in
1954. There were many other books: amony them, notably Induséry Trade and People in
Exeter and Provinciad England (1965) and two TV series on the landseape with the
. BBC.

e became Reader in Economic Hislory at the University of Oxlord and was able
happily Lo combine this job with living in Exeter for ten years. He laler became
Professor of Bnglish Loeal History at the University ol Leicester. In 1968 he retired to
3evon and lived in Exeter. In 1994 the Sunday Times toeluded him in their list of ‘A
thousand makers of the twenticth century’, Iis inclusion in that international list was
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hased on the belief the he ‘brought the historical study of the English Landseape to a
wide public’ and transformed the way people thought aboul the English landscape.

There is no memorial of any kind to him in Devon. The Devon History Society, sup-
ported by his family, agreed that a plaque would be appropriate and that it should be
set up on the house where he was born, once bakers premises, at 26728 8t Davids Hill,
Exeter. The owner of the two housos al $t Davids Flll is agreeable, the wording of the
plagque has been agreeed.

Present plans are that the plaque should be put in place this autumn to coincide
with the republication by Phillimore of his major book on Devan.

The lovation of the house makes it impossible to hold a public meeting there, so it has
heen decided to hold, on Saturday 11 October, a cefebratory tea party al the Devon and
Exeter Instiotion, where he olten spoke himself, At this there will be lwo or three
speakers whe knew him well to talk about his woerk and achievement.

Attendance at this will sadly have Lo be by invitation only as space at the Institution
is restricted, We are bound to extend invitations to members of the Hoskins Bunily and
to some of his colleagues, as well as to the universities, local learned societios and coun-
cils from whom we have asled help in this project.
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DR BASIL GREENHILL, CB, CMG

President of the Devon History Society 1993 - 1996

Bagil Greenhill, who died on & April. was a Westcountryman whose intevesis in matters
maritime went back to his childhood, Alter war serviee with the Navy he joined the
Dominions, later Commonweulth Kelations Oliee sevving hath at home and abrogd
until lre was appointed in 1967 Diveclor ol the Notional Mavitime Musean, an oflice he
held wntil 1983, On his retivement he settled across the Tamar from Plymaoath and con-
tinued to publish works on nautical subjects, often jointly with his wite Ann. [e was
associnted with the development of mavitime history as an academie dizciptine at
Excter and later al Holl Universities with their centres for postgradunte studies, He
was conscious of the danger of lreating o nation’s marilime history as an indepesdent
subject and in his presidentinl address to Lhe socicty he cmphasised the impuorlance of
considering it together with the political and economic sides ol its history

e was one of the editors of The New Mearitive History of Devon promoted by Exeter
University. His many publications starting with the Merchant Schooners in 1951 have
included numerous worles of direct interest to historians in the South West. This is not
the place to eonsider his important inlluenee on the changing direction of modern mar-
ithme museums or on the resh apfroach Lo the archoeology of the ship and boat. As
President he Look a continunsus interest in Lhe soctety’s aclivities and many older mem-
bers will remember Aan and hig hospitable reception of a number of us at his Cornish
home and the visit to the restored keteh at the quay below,

Adrian Reed

APOLOGY

[n the April edition of The Devon Histericon we published an arlicle by Philip Carter
crlitled "Devan's place in the development of Lourism’. Tn his st of bibliographical ret-
crenges the author acknowledged the tact that certain picees of information originated
From John Travis's boale The Rise of the Devon seasicde 1750- 1900, {University of Exeter
Press.

Jubin Treavis writes: "Huwever, the article faled to properly acknowledge the extent to
which the thrust of the acgament velied on points made by John Travis in the book nor
tid it properly give ceadit for a pumber of guotations and other picces of information
that had previousty appeared in this boolk.

Phitip Carter apologises to Dr Travis and replies: ‘The article was certainly wrilten
with the honest intention of giving [ull eredit where it was due. There was no intention
to infringe copyripht or Lo take any eredit tor myself, as surely three ceferences in the
text, cleven fostnotes, and the entey in the bibliography prove.

REVIEWS

{Readers are advised thal opinions expressed by reviewers are their own and nnt
necessarily those of the Editor or of the Devon History Socicly as n whole)

Dartmoor’'s War Prison & Church 1805 - 1817 by Elisabeth Stanbrook, Quay
Publications (Brigham), Tavistock 2002, 112 pages. 48 illustrations. £6.50. ISBN 1.
870083-45-8

Dartmoor prison, known [frst as The Depot on Dartmaor, was built during the
Napoleonie Wars Lo accommodate French prisoners-of-war Later, it was to house also
Americans taken during the Anglo-American war of 1812-14. This book does more
than sel out the stories of the building of the prison and of the setting up of the chuceh
at Princetown. Cavefully researched atlention is paid also to the people involved.
These range from Siv Thowas Tyrwhitt, the prisvon’s instigator, and Captain Isaac
Catygrave, its first Officer i Comnuannd, down to Lhe twa prisoners who slew and start-
ud bo eat bwa carthiorses,

The chapters coneerning the prison are set out in chronological order; each, apart
from the first (1805- 1807), being devoled to an individual year. The building of
Princetown Church is then dealt with. Four appendices follow. The first concerns the
witercourses needed to bring fresh water tnto the prisan and earcy foul material [rom
it. The sevond deals with an enquiry into the paor quality af flour supplied Lo the
prison. The third elaborates on an incident whieh invalved seven American prisoners
being killed by their puards. The final appendix is a tist of the names of persons, other
than priseners and militiimen, kinown to be connected with the prison,

Although the building was not yet finished, the fivst contingent of French prisoners
arvived (n May 1809, They were o Far from homogenous group, and soon organised
rely on funding from their bankers or Families, They were followed by Les Labourers
who earned money by selling goods, such as models made of bone and other seavenged
materials. OF the remaining groups, Les Romatns wisve: the most despised. Thanks to
their addiclion to gambling, some lost their clothes and walked about naked. Those
wha exchanged food for tobaceo Bved off reluse. The two prisoners wha killed the

had to be kept apart by o wall across their yard. Phese and many other aspects ol the
prigoners’ lives ore graphically deseribed, but in a thought-provoking rather than sen-
aationalist slyvle,

Scholars have long heen criticised for the way in which certain of them disseminate
their findings and opinions to the non-expert. Some appear unable to communicate
other than 1 a fashion virtualy unintetligible to all except close eolleagues. Others
when addressing what was onee, perbaps vather patronisingly, ealled the ‘intelligeat
layman’ acdopt a style more approprinte to a conversation with a vot very bright child.
Elisabeth Stanbrook avoids both pitfalls. The book under review is fucidly and engag-
ingly writken. The author’s judicious use of humour to emphasise certain points adds
o vather than detracts from an anthoritive presentation of her research. A number of
texts ol camparable length are published withoul an index, There is no such omission
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here. The work is well-referenced; again a rarity in o velatively short publication. ‘The
works cited, many of them primary sourees, ire sct ot clearly, and there is also a
comprehensive bibliography, These wishing to delve further into specific aspects
should have no difficulty in finding vseful stavting points, Finally, the fltustrations are
both apt and clear
This book deserves a readership well beyond the ‘Dartmonr bulf™, T8 should be of
interest also to military, social and family historiapg as well as the general reador. It
van be thoroughly vecommendod.
Sadre Bhanje

Uffeulme: a4 Culm valley parish, Uffeulme Local Flistory Group. 2nd ed. 2002,
132 el lius, [SBN Q931311 07, £7.95 post tree

When [ was asled to review this new edilion [ was expecting an early call by the post-
wian with the delivery of a lavge Halsprove-type volume. However what did drop on
the mad was an clegant well-produced pocket-sized book, the quality of production ol
which was quite outstanding,

L Porter’s review in 1988 explained that it had been gathered together hy twenty-
one eomtributions from eighteen anthusinsts, In essence these must presumably
remain unchanged but as Mr Adrvian Reed, the chairman of the Group Lells us, the
upportunity has been taken to update some of the contents in view of research done’
since the THADS The intormation about the Society of 'riends and the name of
Cadbury” in this context was of great interest, A descendant now resides in Levon, he
rloes not. however tell his audiences that ‘the lone tree logo of Cadbury's is said o rep-
resent the tree, which was onee prowinent, on Blakehorousl Beucow (pagge 98).

A vigit to Coldbharbour mil was the highlight of an carlior visit, [ taok a look inta
Bkwall's Concise English Place Names Dictionary 1o explain that the aame ‘cold har-
bowr” has wider oviging and that it wax the comman name for o place of shelter for
wayfarers constructed by the wayside!, the name dating back many centuvies,

The explosion of the fireworks factory and the damoge done avound it pue Uffenime’
on the lips of many Devonians, I was thercfore of particular intecest o cead of the
restoration of St. Marys Chureh which, at the Lime of Lhe visit, seemed ta be close by,

The inclusion of Peter Orlando [utchinson's piciores in il calaur as o centre-
spread brings eight of his rarely-scen drawings to g new audience, He was eritical of
the place saying ‘Uffeubme seems to stand <oll; there is o lack of public spirit there
and even of morality among the fower orders” bul 2s 'a middle-nged bachelin', looking
alter ‘five, later six of the focal vicar’s children. and four minids, when the parents were
away', a little erilicism is not unexpectedUIMenlme’ s @ model in bolh format and con-
tent which other local parish history groups could follow in their future productions,

John Pike
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Devon Maps and Map-makers: Manuseript Maps Before 1840,

Two volumes in slip case. Kdited with an Intenduction by Mary R Ravenhill and
Margery M. Rowe, 2002, Wustrated. xii + 433 pages. Volame T = Devan and Cornwali
Record Society, Volume 43 New Series - [SBN 0801853 43 7. issued to members of the
society for the year 2000 and Volume {1 - DCRS, Volume 45, New Sopries - [SBN
9018583 45 3 [ssued 2002,

The volumes consist of an Introduction forming a history of Devon maps and biog-
vapliical details of the surveyors accompaniced by a carlo-nbliography ol all Devon
maps know Lo exist in manuseript form, over 1,500 in numboer and dated from 1574 Lo
and including 1840, There are a fow oxeeptions listed in the Introduction, Printod
maps, that is such as Saxton, Donn and the 1809 Ordnanee Survey map, are exeludid
as existiygg in printed form, encompassing the whole county and the work of nationnl
surveyors Appendices Hist surveyors mentioned in the text and an index of personal
names. Other carlographical books edited by Mrs Ravenhill and Mre Rower: are Forly
Devon Maps, 2000 (reviewed in The Devon Historian 81, pPas-dy and Maps of
Cieorgien Bepon, 2002, Friends of Devor's Archives Oceasional Publications Nol and 3
vespectively

An uteresting history of oue aspect of map making is deseribod by the editors
under the title “The development of the maps from the terrier {pp.3-53. From Lhe
eleventh eenlury onward the deseription of land holdings was generadly in the form of
written docinnents, By the sixteenth contury simple digrams, or maps, supplemented
the written word. Bventually the map took precedence over the written woed, as, of
course, it does teday. This contrusty with mapping lor construction purposes. not
referred to by the editors and which develaped by o different route. The writien word
was of Httle initial value fiv this pucpose: the map was needed belore the architeet ov
engineer could decide where to site his construetion.

Maps in the introduction nndfw the enrto-biblingeaphy include highway diversions
prior Lo 1840, maps in vavieus repesitories and maps in private hands, These are st
ed alphabetically under parishes with, wheve known, the doate and madern roference:
the Litle: Lhe surveyor; the seale: the material on which the map is deawn; the content
{or detail as it would be relvred to day b decoration; documents; ele, A similar lst is
printed under ‘Plans of Major Statutory Undertakings in Devon deposited with the
Clerk of the Peace, Pevon Quarter Sessions, 1702- 18107, These wore for the purpase ol
new roads, canals, ratlways, bridiges cte and are listed in date ovder. The latter part of
the [ntroduction is deveted to Lhe surveyors., their tratning and education, professions
with which they were conneeted, status, eighteenth century surveyors, estates survey-
ors and Exeter Cily surveyors. Volume {T contains sixteen excellent reproductions of
maps from 1590 1o 1801 that ave referred to in the text.

The carto-bibliogeaphy of manuseript maps together with the exceptions and exclu-
sions mentioned above will slot into place alongside the two velumes of printed maps
by Datten and Bennett and one might be tempted to think that all sowrees of varteg-
vaphy in Devon are now complete but, as the editors poinl out in the introduction, ‘oo
list ot this type can ever be complete’.

As well as heing an invaluable souree to historians of cartography and to the more
murdest of us just interested in maps, these volumes will also be of immense value to
athers involved in loeal and national historical studies. The volumes are theughtfully
put tagether. They wee secure in a robust slip case and are a pleasure to possess ol
convenient to use.

DL B Thomas
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Tavistock's Yesterdays. Episodes from her History, 12. by G. Woodeock
Published by the authar, 96 pages 14 illustrations. £4.85

This is the twellth vilume in a series that began in 1985, All the articles in il are new
excepl for the frst, which is a partial vevision of the author’s earlier study of Tavistock
School. Fla fullows il with an account of the town's charities beginning with Maynard’s
in 1602 and ending with the post-war Curtoys bequest used to broaden the scope of a
District Nursing Association. While certain purposes of charities” foundors, sueh as the
provision of marriage dowries, are no louger applicable, the baste neets of housing and
ussistance to the sick and aged stil] obtain. [n gpite of periodic lapses it is encouraging
that mast of the resources seem to have: suvvived.

Much of the pleasure of this book lies in the curious characters in the lown's history
that the avthor has discoveved or revived. Thomas Lackham, a Puritan clergyman,
began in Deven as the vicar of Northam, an appointment that seoms to have ended in
his fleeing to New England in 1640, Tleve he split the settlement by attempting to
draw away worshippers fram the existing church to vne ol his own, even coming to
blows with its incumbent. After less than two years he returned to Bugland, for vea-
sons not satislactorily explained, and after another four turned up in Tavistock as an
army chaplain. He seems Lo have beeomae viear by squatter’s vight with the tacit
approval of the Earl of Bedford. His vitriolic exchanges with a group of hostile parish-
waners, both verbally and by pamphlel, muke fascinating reading, However, his ene-
niies, the ‘devils dish elouts’, won and he Iost s pulpit and slmost bis Bberty, he was
exeommuticaled in 1665 and spont the rest ol his lile ag a chemist.

A rather ditferent but equally divisive incident was the story of the Rev Bray and
his eurate. The former was a hypochendriac who elaimed his Licalth kept him away
from his doties, His curate did e work and had the supporct of many of the parish-
ioners. Their differences were set out in letters although they lived only a few hundred
yards apart. These exchanges, varied with interventions by the Bishop of Exeter and
other interested parties, as the editor suggests, are the stull of o Trotlapian novel and
¢an be read with similor enjoyment. At the other end ol the svcial seale, but no less
interesting, are Lhe dilliculties of a part time pig and fowl breeder and his customers.
There are plenty of other good things in this boek, ranging from the sites ol surviving
Vietorian post boxes, to the infoemation et the former, controversial, Goveenor Eyre
of Jamaica spent his last years at Walveddon Manor and is buried at Whitchureh, We
sl hope thal Lhe editor is now getting ready for his next dozen!

Adriun Reed

The Book of Peter Tavy with Cudlipptown by Peter Tavy Heritage Group.
Publizhed by Halsgrove, 2002, 160np. Profusely illustrated, £19.95, Ad hardback.
[SEN 184114 143 7.

Thix book brings Halsgrove's development of ecommunity histories of Devon to over
thirty volumes and the work of this heritage grooap has been earcfully co-vrdinated
and introduecd by Roser Moyrick. In a “Brief Hlistory' we leaen that the parish is one
of the largest in the county and of the ownership ol the land fram Saxon times, Also
that the Dukes ol Bedlord were the owners rom 1539 to 1941, and how the famine
yearg of the 1270< ond ater the Black Death in 1348-50 killed about a thivd to o half
of the population.

The voads, fanes and bridleways are degerihed with the aid of a dingrusunatic map
and the older settlements and fanas are individaally deseribed. In “Two Coats Caldor
than Tavistock’ we are made aware ool only af the eftects of the cold in winter but alse
of the effects of sudden flooding of tie Tavy and Colley brook with a picture of Harlord
bridlge in 1890 with 2 colapsed arch and an sveh over the brook completely Filled with
Hoobweater, There are interesting deseriptions of furming and the fiest tractor in 1943,
nning nnd quarryving, mills and mitling, the postal services. shops, the relationship of
the inn te the chureh, the gacage, public transport and the role of horses before
muchanical ransport.

I *Memories of Lite and Loisure’ we vead of the development of o water supply and
then of the elfects ol twu world wars on Individuals, with six men lost in the first war
and four in the secomd. ant of the community’s responsibilities lor wartime agrieul-
Lure. A note on sporting events fullows, with Lhe lighting of boafires on Smeardon for
Jubilee celebrations and the use of the Coombe tor swimming untit alter the second
war when health and safely regulalives ciused its use to be changed to a wildlife
reserve, There s no definitive map of the parizh hut beating the bounds has been
important, and fu Lthe year 2000 to celebrate the millennium the whole perimeter of
35 miles was beaten to inelude Cudlipptown and Willsworthy The history of schooling
in Lhe village school and Hillsbridge school in descoribed. The village school was the
fngl Lo vlose in 1939 with its childeen going to Mary Tavy ar to Tavistock, bul i had
always been central to village affairs and it beeaune the villoge Lall afier the Bedford
estate vosted the property and and into a trust.

A Norman mask over hieavindow of the south transept and the Normen priest door
to the chaneel suggest thal in Nornuin times the chureh was in existence and the first
veference to a priest is to 'Rebert, chaplain of Tavi', ¢, 1185, 1L is possible that at St
Peter’s Church the chaneel was rebuilt und the north and south transept were addoed
around 1330, In 1834 the Methodist *Rending Room’ was built and this was followed
by the construclion of the chapel in 1879 after recetving & toan from the central
Wesleyan Committee to help the loeal funds,

Cudlippiown was nat in the parvish of Peter Tave uatil 1884, when it was trans-
ferred from the paeish of Tavistoels ol the same time the manor of Sortridge trans-
ferved to Whitchuvel, “The text of this book is acked up by o weallh of photographs
and coneludes with a list of subseribers and a list of titles from Halsgrove's series,
Although there is no bihliography, it remaing a valuable record for the inhabitanis
and an interesting book {or the general rouden

AR George
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Whitchurch Parish: A Short History of a Devon Parish Ken Coolk, Tavistock and
Gistrict Local History Soctety, 2002, Ilustrated. 76 pages. 42 iflustrations + centre fold
map. Price £5.

In & fureword on page | the author explaing how the ecelesiastical parish of
Whitchurch took its name from Lhe village whose church is thought to be named after
Suint White. The civil parish formed in 1894 and remained within the ecclesiastical
boundary until 1935 when the village with some adjoining land was transferved to
Tavistock UDC. Whitehurch and Sampford Spiney parishes were joined in 1974 to
torm the Plaslerdown Grouped Parishi.

The book is divided inlo six chapters with the various aspects under sub-headings.
The pre-history of the land is deseribed as are the uses to which it has been put, such
as farming, guarrying, mining and military training, Ancient trackways are referred
to and 1t is mentioned that there ave about thicty crosses, two of which are on the
monks’ route geross the moor often known as the Abhots’ Wiy, Manors and houses of
historic interest are described. It is interssting to read Lthe shorl history of Lthe
Hallway House al Grenolen which was ran for a hundred years by one family stact-
ing with the Bolts in the 1860s. The church of 5t Andrew is deseribed and it is said
thal it probably has Saxon foundations and that it was substantially rebuilt in the fif-
teenth eentury in the perpendicular style, A chapter is devoted to Whitchorch village
and another to Whitchureh Down. The road to Tavistock passed through Whitchurch
village until 1822 when the present ronte was opened by the Tavislock and Plymouth
Turnpike. In his final chapter Lhe anthor speculates on the future of farming and land
use in peneral,

The centlre fold map is simple but adeguate to identify places referred to by the
author. The 42 Hlustrations ave svell chosen. The vecent colour photographs are erisp
and clear while the monachrome are as good as could be achieved with older originals.

The author refers to the Orst five chapters as a ‘sketeh of the poast’ and that is what
it is. The style is velaxed, making the book a pleasant vead thal is iy no way boring.
The reviewer [eels that he knows much more about Whitchurch than he did hefore
and Lo draw attention to the omisgion of an index and an [SBN is, perhaps, a little
ungraciois,

DL B Thomas
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Moor Memories: produced by Dartmoor National Park Authority. Pack of 3 CDs that
may be obtained for £13.50 (by pest £14.50) from High Moorland Visitor Centre,
Princetown, Yelverton, Devon PL20 GRE

‘These CDs are for Devonians and those who know and love Dartmoor, its people and
its way of life. The oral history project Moor Memories is intended (o record everyday
life oo the moor in Lhe twenlieth century. The interviews, conducted by Becky Newell,
are never intrusive. Those interviewed ave allowed to tell their stories in their own
way with simplicity and considerable lealing for the places most of them have lived in
all their days. Thus a rich and fascinating piclure is unfolded of a unigue landseape
and community.

There are three CDs in the collection. The first covers housing, transport, growing
up, World War [T, Lthe second farming; the third landseape, people, place and weather,
There 1 a useful map giving the location of the places mentioned and short biogra-
phies of Lhese whose memories ave recorded. The dialogue on each track is continuous
and I found it useful to have the accompanying booklet beside me so that [ could easi-
Iy follow the pregression from one track to the next. Each track s timed and there is a
synopsis of the content on each page of the booklet.

Aceess to the moor, its villages and farms is much easier now, and very few who live
and work there are without cars but before the Second World War people either
walked or bicycled to their destinations. There was little variation in education but
the children seemed to be happy. Ilow lovely it was to hear stories of Lheir homespun
adventures and the freedom and salety there was for them [ [ could sum up the lives
of these moor people in one word it would be ‘conlentment’ they accopted Lheir lot and
adjusted their lives accordingly. Their disappointments and hardships are masked by
a warn, unsephisticated humour, and I don’t suppose they would have changed Uheir
status for all the peat on Dartmoor. Fairs and festivals were special oceasions and
times for great merriment, harvesting was hard work but those involved enjoyed it
beeause it was a social event. We are also reminded that rabbits were farmed and
formed the staple diet for many Dartmoor folk before the scourge of myxomalosis. The
moor has changed: farming, wild life, buildings even the weather, but the people are
the same, their reminiscences are unique and they ave told with affection.

I think this is a CD set you will enjoy and then you will wish to pass iL on to friends
for them to share your enjoyment,

Alec Robertson
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